B R E N N A N C E N T E R F O R J U S T I C E

How to Fix Long Lines

By Lawrence Norden

Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law

ABOUT THE BRENNAN CENTER FOR JUSTICE

The Brennan Center for Justice at NYU School of Law is a nonpartisan law and policy institute that seeks to improve our systems of democracy and justice. We seek to hold the political institutions and laws of our time accountable to the twin American ideals of democracy and equal justice for all. Our work ranges from voting rights to campaign finance reform, from racial justice in criminal law to Constitutional protection in the fight against terrorism. Combining the elements of a think tank and legal advocacy group and a communications hub, we seek meaningful, measurable change in the systems by which our nation is governed.

ABOUT THE BRENNAN CENTER'S DEMOCRACY PROGRAM

The Brennan Center's Democracy Program works to repair the broken systems of American democracy. We encourage broad citizen participation by promoting voting and campaign reform. We work to secure fair courts and to advance a First Amendment jurisprudence that puts the rights of citizens — not special interests — at the center of our democracy. We collaborate with grassroots groups, advocacy organizations, and government officials to eliminate the obstacles to an effective democracy.

^{© 2013.} This paper is covered by the Creative Commons "Attribution-No Derivs-NonCommercial" license (see http://creativecommons.org). It may be reproduced in its entirety as long as the Brennan Center is credited, a link to the Center's web page is provided, and no charge is imposed. The paper may not be reproduced in part or in altered form, or if a fee is charged, without the Center's permission. Please let the Brennan Center know if you reprint.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Lawrence Norden is Deputy Director of the Brennan Center's Democracy Program. He has authored several nationally recognized reports and articles related to voting rights and voting technology, including *Better Design, Better Elections* (July 2012) and *Voting Law Changes in 2012* (October 2011). His work has been featured in media outlets across the country, including *The New York Times, The Wall Street Journal*, Fox News, CNN, MSNBC, and National Public Radio. He has testified before Congress and several state legislatures on numerous occasions.

In April 2009, Mr. Norden completed his duties as Chair of the Ohio Secretary of State's bipartisan Election Summit and Conference, authoring a report to the State of Ohio for the purpose of improving that state's election administration practices and laws. The report was endorsed by many of the State's leading election experts, as well as the Ohio Association of Election Officials, the bipartisan organization representing Ohio's 88 county boards of election. *The Columbus Dispatch* called Mr. Norden "a respected authority on voting law," and praised him for "following an independent path" in developing the report and recommendations.

Mr. Norden was the Keynote Speaker at the Sixth Annual Votobit International Conference on Electronic Voting (Buenos Aires, 2008), and the 2009 Electronic Voting Technology Workshop/Workshop on Trustworthy Elections (Montreal, 2009). In June 2009, he received the Usability Professional Association's Usability In Civic Life Award for his "pioneering work to improve elections." Mr. Norden is the lead author of the book *The Machinery of Democracy: Protecting Elections in an Electronic World* (Academy Chicago Press) and a contributor to the *Encyclopedia of American Civil Liberties* (Routledge 2007).

The author would like to thank Wendy R. Weiser for her advice and editorial assistance throughout the drafting of this report. In addition, the author would like to thank Jim Lyons for his editorial assistance and Carson Whitelemons and Lucy Zhou for their thorough research and review.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Brennan Center gratefully acknowledges the Democracy Alliance Partners, Educational Foundation of America, The Ralph and Fanny Ellison Charitable Trust, Ford Foundation, Anne Gumowitz, Irving Harris Foundation, The Joyce Foundation, The JPB Foundation, John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation, Mertz Gilmore Foundation, Open Society Foundations, Rockefeller Family Fund, Bernard and Anne Spitzer, the State Infrastructure Fund, the Lawson Valentine Foundation, Vital Projects Fund, the William B. Wiener Jr. Foundation, and Nancy Meyer and Marc Weiss for their generous support of our voting work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
What Can Be Done?	1
1. Modernizing Voter Registration	2
A. Elements of Voter Registration Modernization	3
B. The Benefits of Modernization	3
2. Providing A Minimum Early Voting Period	4
3. Setting a Minimum Standard For Voter Access	6
4. Additional Ideas For Election Improvement	7
A. Deceptive Practices and Voter Intimidation	7
B. Vacancies at the Election Assistance Commission	8
C. Voting Machine Failures	8
D. Restoring Voting Rights for Those with Past Criminal Convictions	9

Endnotes

INTRODUCTION

There were many images typical of Election Day last November 6, including the usual confetti and tears that accompanied the victory and concession speeches at the end of the night. Unfortunately, there was another image that is increasingly common on Election Day, especially during presidential contests: long lines. While it was inspiring to see so many Americans endure hours of standing to exercise their most fundamental right, it was also troubling. We admire the voters in Miami who waited for hours and "refused to leave the line despite fainting."¹ But should this kind of fortitude be needed to vote?

Exceptionally long lines were not isolated to a single city or state. One newspaper ran photos of "incredibly long lines," in polling places nationwide, from Maryland and Minnesota to North and South Carolina.² There were similar reports from states as diverse as Indiana, Colorado, Rhode Island, Wisconsin, and Texas.³ In several polling places in Florida and Virginia, voters were still casting ballots at midnight, long after the presidential election had been called.⁴ In Pennsylvania and Ohio, election observers reported that long lines forced people to walk away without voting.⁵ And in New York and New Jersey, still reeling from Superstorm Sandy, there were reports of hundreds of voters, standing in lines that barely moved after many hours.⁶

Long lines have consequences on turnout and election results. A recent analysis by Professor Theodore Allen of Ohio State University estimates that in Florida alone, more than 200,000 voters may have been discouraged from voting because of long lines on Election Day.⁷ Studies of lines in other regions, from other elections, have similarly shown that chronic long lines can lead to the loss of tens of thousands of votes.⁸

Although long lines are a national problem, not all groups are affected equally. For instance, studies of the 2008 and 2012 presidential elections suggest that black and Hispanic voters were more likely to experience long wait times than non-Hispanic whites.⁹

WHAT CAN BE DONE?

Americans of all political persuasions agree that lines of this magnitude are a disgrace. As President Obama said on election night, "We have to fix that." But what — precisely — should be done? How do we fix that?

There are three reforms that would dramatically reduce the excessive lines that plague voting, and have the added benefit of creating a more efficient and secure electoral system:

- 1. Modernizing voter registration
- 2. Providing early voting during a fixed national time period
- 3. Setting minimum standards for polling place access

As the world's leading democracy, the American voting system must be free, fair, and accessible. This nation was founded on the principle that all are "created equal." Every citizen has a responsibility to vote on Election Day. But it is the government's responsibility to make sure the system works efficiently for those who exercise this responsibility. Those who take the time to participate in democracy are owed at least that much.

Much of our current election system was developed more than 100 years ago. It is long past time to offer Americans the convenience, flexibility, and security that they demand in the 21st century.

Here is a blueprint to make it happen.

1. MODERNIZING VOTER REGISTRATION

The Problem: The most significant obstacle to free, fair, and accessible elections is our ramshackle voter registration system. It was designed for a 19th century, paper-based society. Now, in the digital age, tens of millions of voters routinely fall off the rolls or are never registered in the first place. Records are rife with errors, creating confusion and long lines on Election Day. The voter registration system is not suitable for the 21st century. Every year, millions of Americans register to vote for the first time, and millions more update their information. Most do so on paper. Too often, these paper forms swamp local election officials, who must input and update hand-written information, and then send it to state offices. This labor-intensive system burdens taxpayers, and introduces the potential for human error — in reading handwriting, transcribing it, and properly forwarding the data detailed in every form — which increases both the chances for fraud, and the chance a voter will be told, incorrectly, that she is not properly registered. As a result of this outdated system, the nation's voting rolls are notoriously inaccurate.¹⁰ A 2008 Harvard/MIT study estimated that 2 to 3 million citizens tried to vote that November, but were unable to cast a ballot because of registration problems.¹¹

The obsolete system contributes to long lines in two ways. First, inaccuracies in the recording of names, addresses, and other information lead to disruption and delay. As voters wait, poll workers fruitlessly search for names and addresses improperly recorded. A Pew Center study found that one in eight registration records is invalid or has serious errors in it.¹² "Jane O'Dwyer at 210 Main Street" is not found because she is listed as "Jane Dwyer at 201 Main Street" in another poll book. When both the poll worker and the misplaced voter finally give up the search, the voter must fill out a provisional ballot, which takes even more time and resources away from processing other voters who can cast their ballots quickly. It takes only a few incidents like these to significantly increase wait times for everyone else.

Second, inaccurate rolls make it more difficult for election officials to estimate how many voters might show up at a particular polling place. Turnout from one election to another varies greatly. In an off-year election, few voters in a precinct may cast ballots; in a hotly-contested presidential election, nearly all of them may come to the polling place. But if an election official is uncertain about how many registered voters there are in a particular precinct (How many on the lists have died, or moved away? How many have moved into the precinct and are entitled to vote by provisional ballot?), she cannot determine with any precision how many machines, ballots, and poll workers the precinct requires.

The Solution: The U.S. should adopt a new paradigm for voter registration. More responsibility for voter registration should be shared by the government. Under a modern voter registration system, citizens must take responsibility to participate, but the government must ensure that eligible Americans are not prevented from voting due to government errors, improper purges, or misunderstood registration rules.

A. Elements of Voter Registration Modernization

The Brennan Center has produced a detailed proposal for Voter Registration Modernization.¹³ Here's what's needed:

- Voluntary, automated registration of all consenting citizens when they interact with a wide range of government agencies.
- "Portable voter registration" systems that would keep voters on the rolls, even when they move.
- Fail-safe procedures to ensure that eligible voters whose information is not on the rolls or not up to date can correct the information online or at the polls.
- Federal funding for states to make necessary technological upgrades.

First, state election officials would automatically register consenting eligible citizens by electronically transmitting reliable information from other government lists. Digital technology makes this easy. Existing computerized records, such as databases maintained by motor vehicle departments and social service agencies, would be drawn from to build the voter lists. Second, when voters move, their registration would move with them. Voters could also register and correct their registrations online, ensuring the most accurate rolls possible. Finally, if a voter's name is not on the rolls on Election Day, because of a governmental mistake or improper purges, she won't be told she cannot cast a ballot or that her vote won't count. Instead, she'll be given the opportunity to correct the registration books and cast a vote that will count.

B. The Benefits of Modernization

If fully adopted, Voter Registration Modernization would vastly improve democracy. Among the benefits:

- As many as 50 million eligible citizens would be added to the rolls permanently.
- States would save millions of dollars. Every state that has adopted online or automated registration has reported saving hundreds of thousands of dollars each election cycle.¹⁴
- It would improve election integrity, by creating more accurate rolls and curbing the potential for fraud.

Fortunately, this plan does not require the development of new technology or a labor-intensive effort to computerize current voter records. The basic infrastructure already exists. Thanks to the Help America Vote Act ("HAVA"), every state now has (or soon will have) a computerized statewide voter registration database capable of sharing information in some form with other government databases. Components of a fully modernized registration system are already successfully in use, from Maine to Washington, Ohio to Florida.¹⁵ Every single element of this reform is in place and working well in multiple states. And they have been put in place by Republicans and Democrats alike. For voters, the transition from Dickensian record keeping to 21st century record keeping should be seamless.

Modernizing voter registration would solve one of the most significant causes of long lines and voter frustration. Fewer errors in the registration rolls will mean less time spent looking for misspelled names or addresses while other voters wait. Similarly, less time will be spent directing voters to fill out lengthy provisional ballot envelopes, which also consumes time and requires their own, separate set of administrative procedures. Finally, officials will have the ability to more precisely allocate resources to polling places, because they will have an exact and accurate number of registered voters.

2. PROVIDING A MINIMUM EARLY VOTING PERIOD

The Problem: Until last year, the growth of early in person voting ("EIPV") appeared unstoppable. In the last decade, the percentage of voters casting ballots at early voting sites increased nearly five-fold,¹⁶ and the effort generally had bipartisan support.¹⁷ That changed in 2011, when the number of early voting days was cut in several states. The most dramatic narrowing of the early voting window was in Florida, where EIPV days were reduced nearly in half, from 14 to 8, without increasing the number of polling places, machines, or poll workers available to early voting period, and on Election Day.¹⁹ In fact, there were reports that several polling places throughout the state had wait times of up to eight hours both before and on Election Day.²⁰

Black and Hispanic voters were disproportionately affected by the cutbacks to early voting. In Florida, as in other locales with EIPV, studies show that people of color are more likely to vote during the early voting period than non-Hispanic whites.²¹ Florida's early voting restrictions seemed tailored to especially affect times that historically have had the highest minority turnout — the law eliminated voting on the last Sunday before Election Day, when many minorities voted after church.²² Thus, it is hardly surprising that reports of long lines frequently concerned polling places with high concentrations of minorities.²³ Similarly, cutbacks in early voting in Ohio appear to have disproportionately impacted large counties with significant minority populations: One study showed that during the last three days of early voting, wait times in those large counties were between one and four hours, in contrast to smaller counties with proportionately fewer minority voters, where wait times were under an hour.²⁴

Problems in other states also support the argument that a lack of EIPV opportunities can lead to long lines. In New York and New Jersey, Superstorm Sandy made it impossible for many voters to cast ballots at their local polling place on Election Day. Voters forced out of their homes could not travel to their polling place, and some polling places were moved because they could not operate in their usual locations. Unfortunately, neither state made provisions for allowing any voter to cast a ballot at a polling place open before Election Day (neither state requires or allows EIPV by law). If they had, many voters would have had the opportunity to cast ballots at sites unaffected by the storm before November 6, easing what turned out to be an extraordinary burden on both voters and election officials on Election Day.²⁵

Both states valiantly tried to provide displaced voters with Election Day alternatives, including allowing them to use provisional ballots in any location in the state, and in the case of New Jersey, allowing Internet and fax voting.²⁶ Ultimately, these efforts created problems of their own and the election systems of both states were overwhelmed. The e-mail and fax experiment in New Jersey was deemed a "catastrophe" by one New Jersey election official, with many voters complaining they never received ballots, and county e-mail servers crashing before others could file their ballots.²⁷ In both states, polling places that attracted many displaced voters ran

out of ballots, creating an additional frustration for citizens who had not only lost their homes, but some of whom had waited in line for hours to exercise their civic right, only to be eventually turned away.²⁸

The Solution: Partisans from both sides of the political aisle recognize that EIPV, when implemented effectively, can play a major role in reducing long lines on Election Day.²⁹ The reasons are simple: First, if a greater number of voters are voting early, fewer will vote on Election Day, meaning the crush of voters at particular times on Election Day will be smaller. Second, early voting provides an important safety valve against the kind of Election Day overload that can result from unexpected problems. Whether those problems are minor (like a failed voting machine at a polling site) or major (like the fallout from Superstorm Sandy), EIPV ensures that fewer voters are forced to choose between waiting in line for seven hours on Election Day and not voting at all.

EIPV should be available to all voters. This would not require a leap into unchartered waters. At least 32 states and the District of Columbia already offer some form of EIPV, and it has been hugely successful when implemented effectively.³⁰ The Brennan Center has found that the best EIPV operations include at least these four elements:

- 10 weekdays of early voting and at least two weekends, including the weekend before Election Day.
- At least some weekday EIPV hours beyond regular business hours (e.g., before 9 a.m. and after 5 p.m.).
- Establishment of a standard by which each county (or relevant voting jurisdiction) sets a minimum number of EIPV locations based on its voting population, and polling locations that are reasonably and equally accessible to all voters.
- Establishment of "Early Voting Centers," at which any voter from a particular county can vote, regardless of how close it is to the voter's home.

These criteria ensure that the greatest number of voters have reasonable access to EIPV. Evidence shows that early voting increases as Election Day nears — the weekend before Election Day has particularly high turnout.³¹ Mandating the availability of weekend voting, as well as both standard business and non-business hours during the week, frees citizens from making a choice between work and voting. Setting a uniform standard for each county to have a minimum number of EIPV outlets to serve its voting population will aid in dampening controversies over site selection, which too often in the past has led to accusations that some voters were provided less access to early voting than others.³² Finally, creating Early Voting Centers gives voters much greater flexibility during the early voting period to vote at locations that may be convenient, but not particularly close to their homes. For instance, a voter could cast a ballot at an Early Voting Center close to work during her lunch hour, or near a shopping mall on the weekend.³³

3. SETTING A MINIMUM STANDARD FOR VOTER ACCESS

The Problem: One of the most striking things about Election Day 2012, and every presidential contest in recent memory, is how different the experience of voting can be from one community to the next. Even within the same city or state, the differences can be stark. This is often directly related to where polling places are located, and the resources provided to each one. For instance, *The Miami Herald* reported that a single Miami precinct, which had waits of up to five hours, served 8,303 registered voters. And a "total of 159 precincts — about 19 percent — [had] more than 2,500 registered voters." By contrast, some precincts had "as few as a couple of hundred registered voters," with fewer than 100 voting on Election Day.³⁴ Although all voters across Florida were faced with long ballots that included 11 state constitutional amendments,³⁵ long wait times were exacerbated in counties such as Miami-Dade due to the lack of minimum standards for voter access, including inadequate resources for the number of voters expected.

There is a widespread consensus that inadequate allocation of resources — whether number of voting machines, poll workers, or ballots — can lead to long lines and ultimately prevent thousands from voting.³⁶ To take just one high-profile example, between 20,000 and 30,000 people were deterred from voting in a single county in Ohio in 2004 because of long lines caused in part by an inadequate number of voting machines.³⁷

The Solution: The federal government should set minimum standards for voting — an idea Americans overwhelmingly support.³⁸ These standards could be set with the goal of ensuring that no American must wait more than one hour to vote on Election Day. Numerous factors need consideration in setting these standards. Studies show that, to be effective, the standards should be based upon, among other things, the number and location of registered voters, turnout in previous elections, the type of voting system used, the needs and numbers of voters with disabilities and limited English proficiency, and the length and complexity of ballots.³⁹ To ensure these standards are applied uniformly within each state, and enhanced when necessary, the appropriate agency and/or individuals must have the right to seek penalties and demand planning improvements when long lines persist in a particular state.

Because these factors differ greatly from state to state, and even county to county, a "one size fits all" approach to resource allocation is not possible. For example, New York election law requires that counties allocate voting machines such that there are no more than 800 registered voters per machine.⁴⁰ This standard might make sense in New York, where in the 2012 general election, there were no ballot measures and the ballot was only one page. By contrast, some counties in Florida had ballots nearly 12 pages in length.⁴¹ Yet, Florida does not have a statewide standard for the ratio of voters to voting machines. In Lee County, there was one scanner per 3,500 registered voters, while in some precincts in Orange County, there was one scanner per 5,150 registered voters.⁴²

A Federal Role

But these differences do not mean there is no need for a federal role in setting minimum standards. The overarching goal should be that no voter should wait more than one hour to cast her ballot. States should be required to develop plans that must be approved by a responsible federal agency, such as the United States Election Assistance Commission ("EAC"), which was established with the express purpose of guiding localities in providing efficient voting and best practices, or the U.S. Department of Justice, which currently

has enforcement authority over a variety of federal laws related to voting. Additionally, contingency plans should be set so localities can respond quickly and effectively if wait times begin to exceed one hour.⁴³

Of course, merely requiring states to publish a plan to reduce lines is no guarantee that long lines will disappear. In fact, several states already have minimum requirements meant to ensure equal access to the polls, often with little apparent benefit to voters, because they are either extremely weak or are not uniformly implemented.⁴⁴ It is therefore critical to ensure that affected voters have the ability to enforce or challenge state plans to prevent long lines.

4. ADDITIONAL IDEAS FOR ELECTION IMPROVEMENT

Long waits are merely the most visible manifestation of the problems with the voting system. Deceptive practices that mislead and intimidate, machines that lose or misread votes, and a tangle of confusing laws that make it difficult for citizens to restore their voting rights are all problems that have plagued recent elections. All of these hurdles can affect election outcomes, undermining the confidence of citizens in the fairness of results. Absent confidence by the governed that elections are free and fair, democracy ends. Here are solutions to these issues.

A. Deceptive Practices and Voter Intimidation

The Problem: Every election cycle, voters are inundated with a flurry of information aimed at educating them about issues, candidates, and the electoral process. Unfortunately, not all of this information is designed to help voters make informed political choices. Instead, in nearly every election, many voters, disproportionately those in minority communities, are furnished with deceptive information designed to prevent them from casting a meaningful ballot. In 2004, for example, flyers in African-American neighborhoods in Milwaukee, Wisconsin falsely warned voters that if they had not paid their parking tickets, if they had ever been convicted of a felony, or if they had ever voted in an election that year, they would be punished for going to the polls.⁴⁵ In 2006, flyers distributed to voters with Latino surnames in Orange County, California incorrectly intimated that it is illegal for naturalized citizens to vote.⁴⁶ In 2008, fake flyers alleging to be from the Virginia State Board of Elections were distributed that falsely stated that Republicans and Democrats were supposed to vote on different days.⁴⁷ On Election Day in 2010, robocalls targeted minority households in Maryland telling voters that the election outcome had already been determined and there was no need to vote.⁴⁸

The Solution: Congress should pass legislation that prohibits intimidation and deceptive practices, and provides voters with adequate recourse for conduct aimed at preventing them from voting, such as the Deceptive Practices and Voter Intimidation Prevention Act of 2012.⁴⁹ Any legislation should preserve the fundamental First Amendment right of free speech, particularly in the political arena. In addition, the legislation should include a remedial structure that can provide affected communities with immediate, correct information from a reliable and trusted source.

B. Vacancies at the Election Assistance Commission

The Problem: The EAC is a bipartisan agency created by HAVA for the purpose of establishing national guidelines for voting systems, and offering guidance to localities on how to ensure best election administration practices.⁵⁰ Unfortunately, Congress has opted to treat the EAC as a ghost entity. The EAC has been without commissioners or an executive director for nearly a year. Draft guidelines intended to allow jurisdictions to purchase the next generation of voting systems were delivered to the EAC in August 2007.⁵¹ Without commissioners, these guidelines cannot be approved, meaning that jurisdictions that require federal certification, or testing to federal guidelines, cannot purchase the next generation of machines.⁵²

The Solution: Congress needs to fill the vacancies and strengthen the EAC so that every voter, everywhere, can go to the polls with a reasonable expectation of adequate service, instead of wildly varying experiences now prevalent. This will allow localities around the country to purchase the next generation of voting equipment.

C. Voting Machine Failures

The Problem: Failed voting machines, lost votes, and frustrated voters: these have been a constant in news reports after every recent major election. That should not be surprising. The voting systems in use today are complicated machines. Each runs on tens of thousands of lines of software code. As with automobiles and airplanes, automatic garage door openers and lawnmowers, occasional malfunctions are inevitable — even after rigorous product testing.

When it comes to failures, however, voting machines are different from automobiles, airplanes, and other products in at least one important respect: For the vast majority of voting machines in use today, (1) manufacturers are not required to report malfunctions to any government agency, and (2) there is no agency that either investigates alleged failures or alerts election officials and the general public to possible problems (let alone requires manufacturers to fix problems).

The consequence of this lack of oversight is predictable. Voting machines fail in a particular county in one election, and then again later, under similar circumstances, in a different county. These repeated failures disenfranchise voters and damage public confidence.

The Solution: The EAC or other federal agency should be given statutory authority and resources to create a national database of voting machine failures. Information would be compiled that tracks the performance of various brands and types of voting machines, establishing a track record for each make and model. The database would strengthen the electoral system. It would be easier for election officials and others to ensure their equipment is as user-friendly and accurate as possible. And voting machine vendors would be more accountable to public officials and taxpayers, providing manufacturers incentives to enhance internal controls. Given the billions of dollars spent by federal and local governments to purchase and maintain new voting equipment over the last several years, such transparency would be a significant improvement.

In addition, the only way to ensure that software defects do not affect election results is to require voterverified records for all electronic voting systems, and to conduct an audit comparing a small percentage of those records to the electronic tallies after each federal election. The voter-verified audit records must be independent of the voting machine software, such as paper records. They must also be accessible to people with disabilities and language minority voters. Congress should require an audit of the voter-verified records after every federal election. It should also ensure that the auditing procedures are transparent and effective. In total, 40 states have already moved toward requiring voter-verified paper records for every voting machine. Of those, 23 require post-election audits.

D. Restoring Voting Rights for Those with Past Criminal Convictions

The Problem: Voting is both a fundamental right and a civic duty. Yet, alone among modern democracies, the U.S. has laws that lock people out of the voting booth for life if they have been convicted of crimes. These laws are often a remnant of Jim Crow. The numbers involved are not small and disproportionately affect minorities. An estimated 5.85 million Americans are barred from voting because of a past felony conviction.⁵³ Approximately 4 million of the disenfranchised are out of prison, or on probation or parole, and more than half of those — 2.6 million — have completed their sentences and are working, paying taxes, and raising families just like ordinary citizens, but are relegated to permanent second-class citizenship.⁵⁴ About 2.2 million African-American adults are barred from voting under these laws.⁵⁵ Their 7.7 percent disenfranchisement rate is 4.5 times higher than the rate of the non-African-American population, and in three states, more than one in five African-American men are permanently disenfranchised.⁵⁶

The Solution: Congress should pass the Democracy Restoration Act of 2011,⁵⁷ which seeks to restore voting rights in federal elections to the millions of disenfranchised Americans who have completed their prison terms but are still denied the right to vote. Restoring voting rights to those who have completed their sentences strengthens democracy by increasing voter participation. Political participation also helps the formerly incarcerated reintegrate into the community.

ENDNOTES

¹ Eyder Peralta, *Voting Issues: Long Lines in Florida, Confusion in New Jersey*, NPR.org, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://m.npr.org/story/164408114</u>.

² Michael Topel, 7 Photos of Incredibly Long Lines at Voting Precincts on Election Day, LOS ANGELES DAILY NEWS, Nov. 6, 2012, available at <u>http://www.dailynews.com/politics-national/2012/11/7-photos-of-incredibly-long-lines-at-voting-precincts-on-election-day/</u>.

³ Indianapolis Business Journal Staff and Associated Press, *Long Lines, Delays Greet Voters on Election Day*, INDIANAPOLIS BUSINESS JOURNAL, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.ibj.com/long-lines-delays-greet-voters-on-election-day/PARAMS/article/37726</u>; Christopher N. Osher and Ryan Parker, *Metro Voters Experience Long Waits in Colorado*, THE DENVER POST, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at*

http://www.denverpost.com/breakingnews/ci_21939411/election-day-voting-begins-swing-state-colorado; Alisha A. Pina, *Council, Officials Aim to Fix Election Difficulties*, PROVIDENCE JOURNAL, Dec. 7, 2012, *available at* http://digital.olivesoftware.com/Olive/ODE/ProJo/LandingPage/LandingPage.aspx?href=VFBKLzIwMTIvMTIvM Dc.&pageno=NA..&entity=QXIwMDQwMQ..&view=ZW50aXR5; Karen Herzog and Jan Uebelherr, *Some Glitches, Long Lines and Voter ID Confusion at Polls*, THE JOURNAL SENTINEL, Nov. 7, 2012, *available at* http://www.jsonline.com/news/statepolitics/five-hours-into-election-long-lines-some-problems-surface-ur7hbv1-177502851.html; PEW CENTER ON THE STATES, VOTE CENTERS, LONG LINES, AND PROVISIONAL BALLOTS IN GALVESTON COUNTY, TEXAS, Nov. 27, 2012, *available at* http://www.pewstates.org/research/analysis/vote-centerslong-lines-and-provisional-ballots-in-galveston-county-texas-85899432525.

⁴ Greg Gordon and Tony Pugh, *Voters Endure Long Waits, Irregularities in Some States,* THE SEATTLE TIMES, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://seattletimes.com/html/nationworld/2019621099_elexvoting07.html</u>.

⁵ Matt Smith. *Long Lines but Few Snags in U.S. Election*, CNN, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.cnn.com/2012/11/06/politics/election-voting/index.html</u>.

⁶ Sarah Wolfe, *Election Day: Long Voting Lines Reported across United States*, GLOBALPOST, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.globalpost.com/dispatch/news/regions/americas/united-states/121106/election-day-long-voting-lines-reported</u>.

⁷ Scott Powers and David Damron, *Analysis: 201,000 in Florida Didn't Vote Because of Long Lines*, ORLANDO SENTINEL, Jan. 23, 2013, *available at* <u>http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2013-01-23/business/os-voter-lines-statewide-20130118_1_long-lines-sentinel-analysis-state-ken-detzner</u> (citing analysis of Professor Theodore Allen).

⁸ See, e.g., Benjamin Highton, Long Lines, Voting Machine Availability, and Turnout: the Case of Franklin County, Ohio in the 2004 Presidential Election, 39 PS: POL. SCI. & POLS. 65 (2006), available at <u>http://faculty.psdomain.ucdavis.edu/bhighton/copenhagen2012/readings/Highton_lines_ps_2006.pdf</u>; THEODORE T. ALLEN, MIKHAIL BERNSHTEYN & CHRIS ROCKWELL, HELPING FRANKLIN COUNTY VOTE IN 2008: WAITING LINES (2008), available at <u>http://vote.franklincountyohio.gov/assets/pdf/2008/general/gen2008-voting-machine-allocation.pdf</u>

⁹ R. MICHAEL ALVAREZ ET AL., 2008 SURVEY OF THE PERFORMANCE OF AMERICAN ELECTIONS (2009), *available at* http://<u>www.vote.caltech.edu/drupal/files/report/Final%20report20090218.pdf</u>; AFL-CIO, 2012 ELECTION NIGHT SURVEYS (2012), *available at* <u>https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1TGQPrvxJ5ODgSPf4CL-aS1HKVmrzM4UF70gso4IUa10/edit#slide=id.p58</u>.

¹⁰ PEW CENTER ON THE STATES, INACCURATE, COSTLY, AND INEFFICIENT (2012), *available at* http://www.pewstates.org/uploadedFiles/PCS_Assets/2012/Pew_Upgrading_Voter_Registration.pdf.

¹¹ Stephen Ansolabehere, Testimony before the U.S. Senate Rules Committee (March 11, 2009), *available at* <u>http://vote.caltech.edu/sites/default/files/03112009Ansolabehere_Testimony.pdf</u>.

¹² PEW CENTER ON THE STATES, INACCURATE, COSTLY, AND INEFFICIENT, *supra* note 10.

¹³ For further information about Voter Registration Modernization, see, e.g., BRENNAN CENTER FOR JUSTICE, THE CASE FOR VOTER REGISTRATION MODERNIZATION (2013), available at

http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/publications/Case Voter Registration Modernization.pdf: CHRISTOPHER PONOROFF & WENDY WEISER, VOTER REGISTRATION IN A DIGITAL AGE (2010), available at http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/Democracy/Paperless Registration FINAL.pdf; WENDY WEISER, CHRISTOPHER PONOROFF & NHU-Y NGO, MODERNIZING VOTER REGISTRATION: MOMENTUM IN THE STATES (2010), available at http://www.brennancenter.org/page/-

/Democracy/VRM%20State%20Trends%20Final.pdf?nocdn=1; WENDY WEISER, MICHAEL WALDMAN & RENÉE PARADIS, VOTER REGISTRATION MODERNIZATION, available at

http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/publications/VRM.Proposal.2008.pdf; JENNIFER ROSENBERG WITH MARGARET CHEN, EXPANDING DEMOCRACY: VOTER REGISTRATION AROUND THE WORLD (2009), available at http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/publications/Expanding.Democracy.pdf.

¹⁴ PONOROFF & WEISER, VOTER REGISTRATION IN A DIGITAL AGE, *supra* note 13.

¹⁵ VOTER REGISTRATION MODERNIZATION IN THE STATES, http://www.brennancenter.org/content/pages/voter registration modernization states (last visited Jan. 28, 2013).

¹⁶ ALVAREZ ET AL., *supra* note 9.

¹⁷ A 2005 survey of likely voters showed that 69% of Democrats, 66.4% of Independents and 53.4% of Republicans favored the ballot issue allowing for early voting in Ohio. Ray C. Bliss, The 2005 Ohio Ballot Initiatives: Public Opinion on Issues 1-5 (2005), available at

http://www.uakron.edu/bliss/research/archives/2005/finalballotissuereport.pdf.

¹⁸ 2011 Fla. Laws 40, available at http://laws.flrules.org/2011/40; see also Justin Levitt, A Devil in the Details of Florida's Early Voting Law, ELECTION LAW BLOG, May 23, 2011, available at http://electionlawblog.org/?p=18296.

¹⁹ Deborah Charles, *Election System Needs an Overhaul, But It's Not That Easy*, REUTERS, Nov. 8, 2012, *available* at http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/11/08/us-usa-campaign-voting-idUSBRE8A71F820121108; Amanda Terkel, Florida Early Voting Fiasco: Voters Wait for Hours at Polls As Rick Scott Refuses to Budge, THE HUFFINGTON POST, Nov. 4, 2012, available at http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2012/11/04/florida-early-voting n 2073119.html.

²⁰ Renee Montagne and Greg Allen, Disputes Over Early Voting Ignite in Florida, NPR.ORG, available at http://www.npr.org/2012/11/05/164314546/disputes-over-early-voting-ignite-in-florida.

²¹ Letter from Lee Rowland & Mark A. Posner to Chris Herren, Chief, Voting Section, U.S. Dept. of Justice (July 15, 2011), available at http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/Democracy/VRE/Florida Section 5 comment letter - FINAL.pdf.

²² Laura Leslie, Why Ban Sunday Voting?, WRAL.COM, June 16, 2011, available at http://www.wral.com/news/state/nccapitol/blogpost/9737378/; Joy-Ann Reid, In Florida, GOP Squeezes Obama-Friendly Voters, MIAMI HERALD, May 1, 2011, available at http://reidreport.com/blog/wpcontent/uploads/2009/07/In-Florida-GOP-squeezes-Obama-friendly-voters-05 01 2011-MiamiHerald.com .pdf; Dan Tokaji, Blocking the Vote in Ohio, INNOVATION OHIO (June 22, 2011), available at http://innovationohio.org/blog/guest-post-blocking-the-vote-in-ohio; Justin Levitt, A Devil in the Details of Florida's Early Voting Law, ELECTION LAW BLOG, May 23, 2011, available at http://electionlawblog.org/?p=18296.

²³ Powers and Damron, *supra* note 7; Brentin Mock, *Undeterred by the Long, Slow Line Toward Democracy*, COLORLINES, Nov. 7, 2012, available at http://colorlines.com/archives/2012/11/waiting in the long lines toward democracy.html.

²⁴ NORMAN ROBBINS, NORA KANCELBAUM & HALLE LEWIS, ANALYSIS OF EARLY IN-PERSON AND MAIL-IN ABSENTEE VOTING IN THE OHIO 2012 GENERAL ELECTION COMPARED TO 2008 (2013), available at http://www.nova-ohio.org/analysis%20early-absentee%20voting%202012%20vers10%201-19-13.pdf. See also Ari Berman, Ohio Early Voting Cutbacks Disenfranchise Minority Voters, THE NATION, Aug. 8, 2012, available at http://www.thenation.com/blog/169284/ohio-early-voting-cutbacks-disenfranchise-minority-voters; Darrel Rowland, Voting in Ohio: Fight Over Poll Hours Isn't Just Political, THE COLUMBUS DISPATCH, Aug. 19, 2012, available at http://www.dispatch.com/content/stories/local/2012/08/19/fight-over-poll-hours-isnt-just-political.html (statement of Chairman of the County Republican Party Doug Preisse that "[W]e shouldn't contort the voting process to accommodate the urban – read African-American – voter-turnout machine").

²⁵ New Jersey does have no-excuse absentee voting and granted a three day extension for submitting applications for mail-in ballots; however, this was an insufficient solution for many affected citizens contending with the storm's devastation and disrupted mail service. *See* Christopher Baxter, *Officials Scramble to Ensure Smooth Election After Hurricane Sandy*, THE STAR-LEDGER, Nov. 3, 2012, *available at*

http://www.nj.com/politics/index.ssf/2012/11/officials_scramble_to_ensure_s.html; see also Jarrett Renshaw, Salvador Rizzo & Julia Terruso, In Hurricane Sandy's Wake, Many in N.J. Casting Aside Plans to Vote, THE STAR-LEDGER, Nov. 4, 2012, available at

http://www.nj.com/politics/index.ssf/2012/11/in hurricane sandys wake many.html.

²⁶ Ginger Gibson, *New Jersey to Allow Voting by E-mail and Fax*, POLITICO, Nov. 4, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.politico.com/news/stories/1112/83282.html</u>.

²⁷ Bob Sullivan, *New Jersey's Email Voting Suffers Major Glitches, Deadline Extended to Friday*, NBCNEWS.COM, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://usnews.nbcnews.com/ news/2012/11/06/14974588-new-jerseys-email-voting-suffers-major-glitches-deadline-extended-to-friday?lite</u>.

²⁸ Brigid Bergin, *Problems Plague Polls in NJ, NY*, WNYC.ORG, Nov. 5, 2012, *available at* http://www.wnyc.org/articles/its-free-country/2012/nov/05/live-updates-tracking-ny-polls/.

²⁹ Aaron Deslatte and Scott Powers, *Scott Backs Ballot Limit, Expanded Early Voting*, ORLANDO SENTINEL, Jan. 17, 2013, *available at* <u>http://www.orlandosentinel.com/news/politics/os-scott-backs-new-voting-rules-20130117.0,4732530.story</u>; Michael Dresser and Erin Cox, *O'Malley Proposes Expanded Early Voting*, THE BALTIMORE SUN, Jan. 18, 2013, *available at* <u>http://articles.baltimoresun.com/2013-01-18/news/bal-omalley-to-propose-expanded-early-voting-20130118_1_general-elections-primary-elections-cast-ballots</u>; Pamela Brust, *Early Voting Report Indicates Lower Cost and Wait Time*, PARKERSBURG NEWS AND SENTINEL, Jan. 15, 2013, *available at* <u>http://www.newsandsentinel.com/page/content.detail/id/569669/Early-voting-report-indicates-lower-cost-and-wait-time.html?nav=5061</u>.

³⁰ Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Mexico, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, West Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming, and the District of Columbia.

³¹ See, e.g., U.S. ELECTION ASSISTANCE COMMISSION, ALTERNATIVE VOTING METHODS 6 (2008), *available at* <u>http://www.eac.gov/assets/1/workflow_staging/Page/54.PDF</u>; Amended Rule 26(a)(2)(B) Expert Report and Declaration of Paul Gronke PhD, *Florida v. United States*, No. 1:11-cv-1428-CKK-MG-ESH (D.D.C. May 14, 2012).

³² LAWRENCE NORDEN WITH JESSIE ALLEN, FINAL REPORT 2008-2009 OHIO ELECTION SUMMIT AND CONFERENCE 52 -53 (2009), *available at*

http://www.brennancenter.org/sites/default/files/legacy/publications/Ohio.Final.Report.pdf.

³³ There is substantial evidence that Election Day vote centers increase turnout. *See e.g.*, Robert M. Stein and Greg Vonnahme, *Voting at Non-Precinct Polling Places: A Review and Research Agenda*, 10 ELEC. LAW. J. 307 (2011), *available at* <u>http://www.bakerinstitute.org/publications/POL-pub-SteinVonnahmeELJPolling-100311.pdf</u>; ROBERT M. STEIN AND GREG VONNAHME, ENGAGING THE UNENGAGED VOTER: VOTE CENTERS AND VOTER TURNOUT (2007), *available at* <u>http://sitemason.vanderbilt.edu/files/eFrJIc/Stein.pdf</u>.

³⁴ Patricia Mazzei, *Miami-Dade Put Off Plan to Draw New Precincts Before Election Day*, THE MIAMI HERALD, Nov. 17, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.miamiherald.com/2012/11/17/3102818/miami-dade-put-off-plan-to-draw.html</u>.

³⁵ Kathleen McGrory, Curtis Morgan, and Jay Weaver, *Across South Florida, Long Lines, Glitches Make for Exhausting Election Day*, MIAMI HERALD, Nov. 7, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.miamiherald.com/2012/11/06/3085322/across-south-florida-long-lines.html</u>.

³⁶ In 2012, examples of inadequate resources leading to long lines include Richland County South Carolina, (Jody Barr and Jennifer Emert, *Richland County: "We Will Conduct a Thorough Investigation"*, WISTV.COM, Nov. 7, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.wistv.com/story/20035057/what-happened-with-the-polls-in-richland-county</u>), Benton County Arkansas, (Amanda Ashley, *Benton County: Long Lines After Paper Ballots Run Out*, NWAHOMEPAGE.COM, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://nwahomepage.com/fulltext-news?nxd_id=379362</u>) and Oahu, Hawaii (Karleanne Matthews, *The Election. What Happened?*, HONOLULU WEEKLY, Nov. 28, 2012, *available at* <u>http://honoluluweekly.com/feature/2012/11/the-election-what-happened/</u>).

³⁷ Benjamin Highton, *Long Lines, Voting Machine Availability, and Turnout: the Case of Franklin County, Ohio in the 2004 Presidential Election*, 39 PS: POL. SCI. & POLS. 65 (2006), *available at* <u>http://faculty.psdomain.ucdavis.edu/bhighton/copenhagen2012/readings/Highton_lines_ps_2006.pdf</u>; THEODORE T. ALLEN, MIKHAIL BERNSHTEYN & CHRIS ROCKWELL, HELPING FRANKLIN COUNTY VOTE IN 2008: WAITING LINES (2008), *available at* <u>http://vote.franklincountyohio.gov/assets/pdf/2008/general/gen2008-voting-machine-allocation.pdf</u>.

³⁸ Press Release, MacArthur Foundation, New Poll: Americans Strongly Support National Standards for Voting (Nov. 14, 2012), *available at* <u>http://www.macfound.org/press/press-releases/new-poll-americans-strongly-support-national-standards-voting/</u>.

³⁹ ALLEN, BERNSHTEYN & ROCKWELL, *supra* note 37.

⁴⁰ THE BOARD OF ELECTIONS IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK, AN ANALYSIS OF THE NUMBER OF VOTERS PER VOTING MACHINE (2006) (on file with author).

⁴¹ Susan Cornwell, *Complaints About Voter IDs, Ballot, Long Lines in Election*, REUTERS, Nov. 6, 2012, *available at* <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/11/06/us-usa-campaign-irregularities-idUSBRE8A51E720121106</u>.

⁴² The Associated Press, Herald-Tribune, *Florida Voters Face Unequal Opportunities*, Nov. 16, 2012, *available at* <u>http://politics.heraldtribune.com/2012/11/16/florida-voters-face-unequal-opportunities/</u>.

⁴³ For example, in some states that use touchscreen machines, voters are given the option of voting on backup paper ballots when voting machines break down or wait times exceed the threshold established by the county boards of elections. JON HUSTED, OHIO SECRETARY OF STATE, DIRECTIVE 2012-27 (July 12, 2012), *available at* <u>http://www.sos.state.oh.us/SOS/Upload/elections/directives/2012/Dir2012-27.pdf</u>.

⁴⁴ Colorado, Delaware, Louisiana, Michigan, South Carolina, and Tennessee, for example, have laws specifying the minimum ratio of voting machines to registered voters.

⁴⁵ Sasha Abramsky, *Just Try Voting Here: 11 of America's Worst Places to Cast a Ballot (or Try)*, MOTHERJONES, Sept./Oct. 2006, *available at* <u>http://www.motherjones.com/politics/2006/09/just-try-voting-here-11-americas-worst-places-cast-ballot-or-try</u>.

⁴⁶ Christian Berthelsen & Jennifer Delson, *Orange County Elections: Letter Inquiry Focuses on Candidate*, L.A. TIMES, Oct. 19, 2006, *available at <u>http://articles.latimes.com/2006/oct/19/local/me-letter19</u>.*

⁴⁷ COMMON CAUSE AND LAWYERS' COMMITTEE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS UNDER LAW, DECEPTIVE ELECTION PRACTICES AND VOTER INTIMIDATION: THE NEED FOR VOTER PROTECTION (2012), *available at* <u>http://www.commoncause.org/atf/cf/%7Bfb3c17e2-cdd1-4df6-92be-</u> bd4429893665%7D/DECEPTIVEPRACTICESREPORTJULY2012FINALPDF.PDF.

⁴⁸ See Berthelsen & Delson, *supra* note 47.

⁴⁹ H.R. 5815, 112th Cong. (2012).

⁵⁰ 42 U.S.C.A. §§ 15321–15322.

⁵¹ U.S. ELECTION ASSISTANCE COMMISSION, VOLUNTARY VOTING SYSTEM GUIDELINES FACT SHEET, <u>http://www.eac.gov/testing_and_certification/voluntary_voting_system_guidelines_fact_sheet.aspx</u> (last visited Jan. 31, 2013).

⁵² These states include California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Kentucky, Minnesota, Nevada, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, South Carolina, South Dakota, Texas, Virginia, Washington, Wyoming, and the District of Columbia.

⁵³ The Sentencing Project, *Felony Disenfranchisement Laws in the United States* (November 2012), *available at* <u>http://sentencingproject.org/doc/publications/fd bs fdlawsinus Nov2012.pdf</u>.

⁵⁴ Id.

⁵⁵ Id.

⁵⁶ Id.

⁵⁷ S. 2017, 112th Cong. (2011).

STAY CONNECTED TO THE BRENNAN CENTER

Sign up for our electronic newsletters at www.brennancenter.org/signup.

Latest News | Up-to-the-minute info on our work, publications, events, and more.

Voting Newsletter | Latest developments, state updates, new research, and media roundup.

Justice Update | Snapshot of our justice work and latest developments in the field.

Fair Courts | Comprehensive news roundup spotlighting judges and the courts.

Twitter | www.twitter.com/BrennanCenter Facebook | www.facebook.com/BrennanCenter

NEW AND FORTHCOMING BRENNAN CENTER PUBLICATIONS

Post-Election Analysis: 2012 Toss-Up House Races Sundeep Iyer

The Case for Voter Registration Modernization Brennan Center for Justice

Curbing Filibuster Abuse Mimi Marziani, Jonathan Backer, and Diana Kasdan

> Election 2012 Recounts Lawrence Norden

Voting Law Changes: Election Update Wendy Weiser and Diana Kasdan

Redistricting and Congressional Control: A First Look Sundeep Iyer and Keesha Gaskins

Election Spending 2012: 25 Toss-Up House Races Sundeep Iyer

> A Proposal for an NYPD Inspector General Faiza Patel and Andrew Sullivan

For more information, please visit www.brennancenter.org.

BRENNAN CENTER For Justice

at New York University School of Law

161 Avenue of the Americas 12th Floor New York, NY 10013 646-292-8310 www.brennancenter.org